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P R O C E E D I N G S

MR. PRESIDENT:
Good morning.  The court is in session.  15bis applies.  

This is Witness BAZ2, Mr. Martel? 

MR. MARTEL:
That's right, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Good morning, Mr. Witness. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Apparently, the witness is not hearing the interpreter. 

THE WITNESS:
Good morning. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
You will be referred to as Witness BAZ2 in these proceedings.  You are a protected witness and must be careful not to give particulars that can reveal your identify when you answer questions here in the courtroom.  You will be asked to take the sworn declaration to tell the truth.  The registry will make the necessary arrangements.

(Declaration made by Witness BAZ2 in Kinyarwanda)
MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, Mr. Witness, you will be asked questions first by the Defence and then by the Prosecution.  Listen carefully and try to answer as briefly as possible. 

Mr. Martel, good morning.  I see that you have kindly given personal details of this witness which include the additional information.  Thank you very much. 

MR. MARTEL:
Thank you, Mr. President.  I will ask the representative of the Registrar to show the witness the personal particulars document.  I think the witness will need to be assisted by an interpreter. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
He is on his way. 

Now, Mr. Witness, the interpreter will now assist you in reading through this document, and your task is to verify whether the information is correct and whether your signature is on that document. 

Mr. Martel and Mr. Pognon, I have noted that the problem I raised yesterday about overlapping has now been solved.  Thank you for finding a new arrangement for the sequence of witnesses in that week.  That was helpful.

MR. MARTEL:
I wrote to Mr. Amoussouga.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, is the information correct? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, the information is correct. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And it's your signature on the document? 

THE WITNESS:
It is my signature. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you, Mr. Interpreter.  

The exhibit number then? 

MR. MARTEL:
3D167. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Admitted under seal.


(Exhibit No. 3D167 admitted, under seal)
MR. MARTEL:
Thank you.  While the officer from the registry is still on his feet, I would like him to show the witness these two statements: a handwritten statement written on the 7th of March, 2000 and another that is typed bearing the date of the 21st of September, 2002.

WITNESS BAZ2,

first having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Please, Witness, I would like you to first of all look at the handwritten statement entitled témoignage, that is "testimony", numbered 1 to 3, but there are indeed four pages.  Do you have it in front of you?

A.
Yes, I have that testimony.

Q.
Below is indicated the 7th of March, 2000 and there is a signature.  Do you see the same details as myself? 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is the signature on that page yours?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Regarding that written statement, is that your handwriting on that statement?

A.
I did write that statement, but we do not have confidence in the investigator.  We wrote this statement to get rid of him.  I didn't have confidence in him.

Q.
We shall return to that matter later on.  Was I, myself, there when you prepared that statement?

A.
I did not see you at that time.

Q.
Very well then.  Now, regarding the other written statement of the 21st of September, 2002, do you have it before you?

A.
Yes.

Q.
On the second page there is a signature.  Is that your signature?

A.
Yes, it is.

Q.
When you gave that statement on the 21st of September 2002, was I myself there?

A.
Yes, you were present.

Q.
Are you sure that on the 21st of September 2002 I was with you?

A.
Please give me some time to think about it and try to remember.  Yes, as far as I can remember, you were there.  We were together.

Q.
Well, then, it doesn't really matter.  Did I meet you in 2002?

A.
No.  I recall that you were not the person I met.  I gave my statement to an investigator when I realised what he was telling me was the truth, that's correct. 

Q.
Did we meet in 2002, you and myself? 

A.
In 2002 we did not meet. 

Q.
Do you not remember --

A.
I was very busy.  I didn't have enough time.  Perhaps we did meet, but since I had a lot of work I do not remember.  But somebody showed you to me; I do recall that somebody was shown to me, and it was you.  I was very busy and I said I didn't have enough time and that I couldn't wait for long.

Q.
Witness, I was wearing other clothes, but you do remember that we met a few weeks ago, a few months ago, don't you?

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honour, counsel is now leading the witness.  Could he just ask his questions in a non-leading fashion? 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, we are just clarifying the following issue.  You have told that this gentleman, the lawyer that you see over there for the Defence, you did not meet him in 2000.  You have told that.  Isn't that so? 

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, he was shown to me.  I had very little time and a lot of work.  I didn't pay attention.  He was shown to me.  Perhaps he has changed because he is wearing different clothes; I don't know. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
I don't know the significance of this in the long run, but just for clarification.  Did you see that gentleman, and please note the year, in 2000, 2-0-0-0?  Did you see him in that year?

THE WITNESS:
I saw him very briefly.  That is perhaps why I have forgotten.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you see him in 2002?

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I recall that in 2000 --  in 2000 I met him very briefly.  I didn't spend a lot of time there.

MR. PRESIDENT:
The question now is whether you saw him in 2002. 

THE WITNESS:
The person who was shown to me must be him, but I had very little time and a lot of work so I didn't pay much attention.

MR. MARTEL:
It is of minor importance because the question I put to him, it is not necessary to ask the question again. 

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Witness, do you know Mr. Hassan Ngeze?

A.
Yes, I know him very well.  He is somebody who told the truth and we were neighbours.  We grew up together in the same neighbourhood.  He always spoke the truth.  He spoke the truth in and out of season and he had lots of difficulties because of that and very often he was imprisoned because of that, because he spoke the truth.

Q.
Witness, thank you.  I will put very short questions to you.  On the 6th of April, 1994, where were you?

A.
I was at home in my home, in my region of origin where I grew up.  That is where I was.

Q.
When did you leave Rwanda?

A.
I left Rwanda with everybody in the month of July, when we fled the country because of the war.

Q.
July of which year?

A.
July 1994.

Q.
Did you flee the country alone?

A.
No, I fled with many other people, with my family.  We fled as everyone else did at that time.

Q.
But why did you and everyone else flee Rwanda in July 1994?

A.
Well, Rwanda had been a peaceful country, but subsequently there was a war, people were killed and other things were done, and we could not remain on the same spot.  Generally, when there is a war, people flee, so we were fleeing from the war.

Q.
Between the 6th of April and mid-July 1994, did you see Mr. Hassan Ngeze?

A.
I saw him once and on that occasion he was with many people.  He said he had just been released from jail.  As a matter of fact, on the 6th of April, Ngeze was imprisoned.  On the 6th of April he was imprisoned.  I saw him with many people and he was telling them that he had just been released from jail.

Q.
Do you remember that date?

A.
Yes.  It was on the 10th.  I do not remember the month, but I believe it was the month of April.  Yes, it was in April.

Q.
Was he in a vehicle or he was on foot?

A.
No, he was standing and telling people who were -- gathered around him was a crowd.  I saw him in the middle of the crowd, and he was telling them that he had just been released.  I didn't stay there for long.

Q.
How was he dressed?  What was he wearing?

A.
Since I first knew Ngeze he has always worn Muslim clothes because he was a Muslim.

Q.
Was he carrying a weapon?

A.
Throughout his life Ngeze has never touched a gun.  He has never touched a gun since I've first met him.

Q.
The people who were surrounding him, who were they?

A.
They were members of the population who came to see him.  He was loved by the people because of the truth he spoke, and he himself loved people.

Q.
Was he also on good terms with the military authorities?

A.
Not at all.  They didn't like him because he spoke the truth.  Because when the authorities committed an error, he published that in his newspaper and everybody was aware of that.

Q.
You have just related the arrest of Hassan Ngeze.  To your knowledge, was he arrested more than once?

A.
Because of the truth he spoke, he was imprisoned on several occasions.  In 1990 in published in his newspaper Kangura that the country was going to be attacked.  He was imprisoned because of the truth he spoke.

Q.
After his arrest on the 6th of April and his release, was he again arrested?

A.
Yes, he was imprisoned because on the 13th he was -- if I remember, he was arrested under the pretext that he was collaborating with those who had attacked the country, and it was said that he was hiding some of their accomplices.

Q.
To the best of your recollection, was that charge of hiding accomplices well-founded?

A.
Yes.  Ngeze saved the lives of certain people, and it was at that time that it was said that he was hiding and saving the lives of the accomplices of those who had attacked the country.  These charges were laid against him.  But he was hiding people who were innocent and who had been attacked during the events of 1994. 

Q.
Do you know the name or the names of the people who were hidden by Mr. Hassan Ngeze?

A.
Yes, I know them.  I remember.  I have never forgotten their names because what he did to save the lives of people, the people who had been pointlessly attacked, and among the people I remember there was, for example, the wife of Kajanja -- Kajanja, who had just died.  There was also Kagoyire, Dativa, Caritas, the daughters of Charles.
There was another person who had been attacked, a Hutu.  His name was Dusabe.  He was a young man who had also been attacked without reason.

Q.
The persons whose names you have just cited, apart from the last, were they Tutsis or Hutus?

A.
The first persons I mentioned were Tutsis.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And Mr. Witness, it was first the wife the Kajanja, I think we can manage that one.  Then it was Kagoyire? 

THE WITNESS:
It was Ali Kagoyire.

MR. PRESIDENT:
The next one? 

THE WITNESS:
I made mention of the wife of Kajanja, Ali Kagoyire, Dativa and Caritas.  These are the people I remember.  They were all Tutsis.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
How did you know about all this, Witness?

A.
When somebody did something of the sort, people talked about it.  He couldn't hide the fact that they was hiding people.  They were not animals, they were human beings which he was -- whom he was saving.  And when we met those people abroad, they tell us that, had it not been for Mr. Ngeze, they would not be alive.

MR. MARTEL:
I would like the witness to be shown the Exhibit 3D156. 

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Please, remove the document from the transparent envelope.  I will ask you to look at the first photograph.  Do you know that building?

A.
Yes, I know that building.  Yes, I know it.

Q.
Whose house was it?

A.
It was Hassan Ngeze's house, but the fence in front that I can see in front of the house was not there at the time.

Q.
If I look at that photograph I see that in front there is a stone wall.  Did that stone wall exist in 1994?

A.
Yes, that wall was there, but that iron grill was not there; railing was not there.

Q.
I will ask you to look at the second page now, top photograph, where you see in front a hand.

A.
Yes, I'm there.

Q.
In 1994 was there a wall as high as the one we can see here in front of Mr. Ngeze's house?

A.
There wasn't.

Q.
Let us go back to the first page.  I want to be very sure, was that stone wall there in 1994?

A.
Yes, as I said, and I spoke the truth, that wall existed then.

MR. MARTEL:
I have no further questions. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, did you hear Hassan Ngeze talk to the crowd yourself about his release on the 10th of April? 

THE WITNESS:
On the 10th of April he had already been arrested for three or four days previously because he was arrested on the night of the 6th of April, when the president's plane was down.  On that day when I met him he said he had just been arrested.  There was a crowd around him.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And my question to you was simply, did you hear him say so yourself?  Did you hear that he uttered those words?

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I did not speak to him.  There was a crowd, a huge crowd, around him.

MR. PRESIDENT:
I understand that you did not speak to him or with him, but did you hear him speaking to the crowd?  Did you hear his voice uttering the words you have just told us?

THE WITNESS:
It is true Ngeze had just been released.  He said he had just been released.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And you heard those words, did you?

THE WITNESS:
I explained to you that because of the crowd that was around him I could not hear him.  He did not speak to me.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Does this mean that you didn't hear him say so, but that you were told that he had said so?  What is your evidence?  I just want to know whether this is direct or indirect. 

THE WITNESS:
I came out of the house and I went down the road and I saw a crowd surrounding him, and the people who were there were saying that Ngeze had just been released.  We went to see whether it was indeed Ngeze.  I went and I saw that it was indeed Ngeze, but I personally didn't hear him say so.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you.

Prosecution.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Witness, good morning. 

A.
Good morning.

Q.
Now, I want to just ask you a few questions.  When you were being questioned by Defence counsel, you stated that when you wrote your first statement you did not have confidence in the people who came to see you.  Why did you not have confidence in them? 

A.
We thought it was impossible.  We saw them coming.  We thought we could give them testimony in favour of someone.  That is why we did not have confidence in those people. 

Q.
Witness, I don't understand you clearly.  You thought you could give them testimony in favour of someone.  Why did you think this?  And who were you supposed to be giving testimony in favour of?

A.
That person was Hassan Ngeze.  When that person came and told us that he had met Hassan Ngeze, that we could give him a statement, we did not think that he would indeed pass on our statement.  That is why we did not have confidence in him.

Q.
You wanted to give testimony in favour of Hassan Ngeze; isn't that true?

A.
Yes, we gave him a statement in favour of Hassan Ngeze, even though we did not have confidence in him.

Q.
How many were you when you were giving this statement?

A.
He came and saw me personally.  I don't know whether he met other people, but when he came and saw me, he only -- he only came and saw me alone.

Q.
But you just told the Court that -- you said "we thought", so we assume there was not just you; there were other people.  Who were these other people who thought with you and had no confidence in this man?

A.
I wanted to be polite, but I was referring to myself.  I did not think he would imagine I was referring to several people.

Q.
Now, this particular person, what is his name?  Do you remember his name?

A.
I do not quite recall his name, but if I took time to think it over, I could perhaps remember the name in question.

Q.
So, because you did not have confidence in him, did you tell him the truth?

A.
We could not tell him the whole truth because we did not have confidence in him.  We could not tell the entire truth to somebody you didn't have confidence in.

Q.
And that is very understandable.  So part of the statement that you wrote about Hassan Ngeze was not the whole truth.  That's your testimony?

A.
I'm telling you the truth.  When that person came to see me, I did not have confidence in him, but the testimony I gave regarding Hassan Ngeze was true. 

Q.
But you did not tell him everything that was true.  Did you tell him everything that was true?

A.
When that person came to see me, I was surprised to see somebody who was coming to see me with regard to Ngeze.  I thought that that person wanted to elicit from me information that would be prejudicial to me.  I did not tell him the entire truth, the whole truth, and that is why I subsequently gave another statement, because the first statement I had given had been given to somebody I did not trust.

Q.
But you did -- and when you were giving the first statement, you wanted to help Hassan Ngeze.  Why did you want to help him?

A.
When you know somebody, somebody who spoke the truth, and when you are told that that person is in difficulty and when you are asked the question whether you know that person, you say you know him because you are of the same region, and I told them that I knew him.

Q.
So, it would follow that you were a great admirer of Hassan Ngeze when he was in Gisenyi?

A.
I was not the only person who loved Ngeze.  Many people -- Rwandans loved Ngeze because he spoke the truth, and often when he spoke the truth, he was imprisoned because of the truth.

Q.
So it is the case that you were a reader of Kangura even at a very young age?

A.
I read Kangura, but not very often.  There were many newspapers.  I also read other newspapers, but from time to time I read Kangura.

Q.
And when you read Kangura you believed everything that was there, didn't you?

A.
I did not say that he spoke the whole truth.  It would be exaggerating for me to say that all the articles that were published in Kangura spoke the whole -- contained the whole truth.  Sometimes he spoke the truth, sometimes he was mistaken, but I realised that he spoke the truth most of the time and he was also imprisoned because of the truth he spoke.

Q.
Okay.

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Can the witness be given his Kinyarwanda statement; the Kinyarwanda statement, the 2000 statement, from -- Mr. Martel? 

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Oh, you have it.  Do you have a copy of the first statement that you wrote, the one that you gave to the person who you had no confidence in?

A.
Yes, I have that statement with me, even though I did not trust the person I gave that statement to.  I did not trust him. 

MR. MARTEL:
I haven't understood why my name has been mentioned.  I don't know why. 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
(Previous translation continued)

MR. MARTEL:
Thank you very much. 

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Can you turn to page 2, page 2 of that statement?  Can you read -- you can read, can't you?  You can read Kinyarwanda?

A.
Yes, I can read.

Q.
Can you read from the first line, "Lacyo" and end at "butalilwa”; “butalilwa”.  Just read out.

MR. PRESIDENT:
How many lines? 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Five lines.

THE WITNESS:
He did not have any problem with Tabaro, Modeste.  They were neighbours.  They had been neighbours for many years and there was nothing in their relationship that could have led them to have problems between themselves.  As a matter of fact, Tabaro used to work for the breweries company, Bralirwa.

Q.
So this is part of what you gave to this man that you had no confidence in, right?

A.
Yes, I gave him this statement.

Q.
Did you give him this statement to help...

A.
I explained to you that when he came to see me he spoke about Hassan Ngeze.  And we used to love Hassan Ngeze.  Hassan Ngeze used to speak the truth.  So I told him some of the things that I knew.  He asked me questions related to Tabaro's death.  That is why I told him that there was no problem between Tabaro and Ngeze, although I did not trust that person.  I did not want Ngeze to be accused in respect of Tabaro.

Q.
Did you see Tabaro being killed?  Were you present when he was being killed?

A.
When people spoke about Tabaro's death in Gisenyi, I was in Gisenyi town, so we went there to see for ourselves when we heard that Tabaro had been killed.

Q.
But were you present?  Were you present when he was killed?

A.
I was not present when he was killed.  Rather, what happened is that we heard that Tabaro had been killed so we went to see the place where he had been killed.  That was during a period of lull, where it was said that the killing in town had ceased.

Q.
So this information that you gave this man was not information that you yourself knew personally from verifying with your own eyes.  You gave it to help Ngeze, isn't it?

A.
I can read out the passage again to you.  I said that there was no problem between him and Tabaro which could have led him to kill Tabaro.  And this is the truth. 

Q.
Now, how would you know that?  How would you know that?  Did you know Tabaro very well?

A.
When people are neighbours or when people have any sort of relationship between them, you can know what happens between those people because we used to live in the same town, although we were not eyewitnesses to all of this, all of these things.

Q.
Now, you did know that Tabaro was a PL member, didn't you?

A.
Tabaro, a member of PL?  Well, that's something that I did not know of.  Apart from the MRND, the other parties were not very visible, and I did not know that Tabaro was a member of the PL.

Q.
And you did know that Ngeze was a member of CDR, didn't you?

A.
I knew that Ngeze was a member of the CDR, just like other people also belonged to political parties.

Q.
So the fact is that in this particular statement, because you did not know that Tabaro was a member of PL, you did not tell the investigator the truth and you gave only information to help Ngeze because you did not know this information; isn't that true?

A.
I do not understand what do you want.  I told you that there was no problem between Tabaro and Ngeze which could have led to Ngeze harming Tabaro.

Q.
Now, I want you to look at the same statement, the same page, the 22nd line.  Have you found the 22nd line where the word -- "where Ngeze" -- in the middle of the sentence, "where Ngeze..."  Have you found it? 

A.
Could you please wait for just a moment?  Yes, I can see the sentence.

Q.
Now, can you read from "Ngeze" until the end of that paragraph?  Could you read "Ngeze yari afte”?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Is "Ngeze" the first word in that sentence, Miss Kagwi? 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

No, it's the third word.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Okay, start with the first word.

THE WITNESS:
"Ngeze had Tutsis in his house and that is why he could not have killed Tabaro.  Another reason -- another reason is that he could not have killed Tabaro and spare his wife and children, because what I'm saying is that he was hiding his wife and his children and, therefore, Ngeze could not have done that."

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
How did you know that Ngeze was hiding the wife and children of Tabaro, or is this another untruth that you gave to help Ngeze?

A.
I told you earlier that I did not trust the person to whom I was giving the statement, so when he asked me questions I'd tell him anything.  I did not tell him the whole truth as would have been the case if someone that I fully trusted was involved.

Q.
So the reason why this information of Tabaro does not appear in the second statement is because you lied and the information that you gave was lies at that particular point.  That's true? 

A.
With regard to the second statement, I was very busy, I had a lot of work, and I tried to give the second statement in a manner as best -- in the best way I could.  Because with regard to the first statement, I did not trust the person who had come to see me.  So that is why I spoke the whole truth when it came to the second statement, because I had given the first statement to someone whom I did not trust.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Witness, do you know who killed Tabaro? 

THE WITNESS:
I cannot tell you a lie, so I cannot tell you that I know the person who killed Tabaro.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Do you have any information regarding the manner in which he was killed?

THE WITNESS:
I cannot tell you how he was killed because that would mean that I was present when he was killed.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
At the time you went to see Tabaro's body, was there a crowd of people around the body?

THE WITNESS:
Yes, there was a big crowd of people.  People had come to see whether Tabaro had been killed or otherwise.  Because at that time killings had stopped.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Did you learn from the people there as to how he was killed? 

THE WITNESS:
I told you that we were surprised by Tabaro's death.  No one said that he or she had witnessed the murder of Tabaro.  Everyone rushed up there to see what had happened and in order to try to find out the circumstances surrounding Tabaro's death.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
On the day Tabaro was killed, do you have any idea as to where Hassan Ngeze was?

THE WITNESS:
During that period Ngeze did not show himself in public because he was being sought.  He was suspected of hiding Tutsis in his house.  He had attacked -- he had been attacked and he fled.  So we did not know where Ngeze was.  But what I do know is that on that day Ngeze was not at his house.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, is it true or is it not true that Ngeze hid Tabaro's wife and children in his house?

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I told you that when I gave this statement I did not really believe that that person who had come to see me worked for Ngeze.  I thought that he had his own interests.  I gave you the names of people who were hidden by Ngeze, and Ngeze helped those people cross the border and go to Zaire.  And those people were grateful and, actually, they said that if Ngeze had not been there, they would have been killed.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So is it your testimony now that you do not know whether Ngeze hid Tabaro's wife and children?  You do not know that?

THE WITNESS:
I did not -- I beg your pardon.  I told you that I did not trust that investigator and that is why I had reservations.  I was wondering whether he was not working for the current government.  So I gave the statement so that it should be known that Ngeze did things to help people, even if that investigator worked for the government.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So the information you gave was not based on what you actually knew, but in order to assist Ngeze; is that so?  Can you answer clearly that question, please? 

THE WITNESS:
Your Honours, I repeated that when someone has problems and if you're aware of such problems, you have to say what you have to say.  But the thing is that I did not trust the person who had come to see me initially, and that is why I gave the second statement.

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Martel. 

MR. MARTEL:
For the record, the witness never stated in his first statement that Mr. Hassan Ngeze had hidden -- had hid the wife and children of Tabaro.  I have a free translation.  I will read three lines from this translation.  The reason why I did not speak earlier when the witness was giving his evidence is obvious.  The thing is that he could not -- and I quote, "He could not have saved Tabaro and spared..."  "He could not have killed Tabaro and spared the wife and children of Tabaro while knowing where they were hiding."  So they were not hiding in his place but, rather, Mr. Ngeze knew where the children and the wife were hiding. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
We have the translation of this statement previously from the booth. 

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Witness, did you go to Hassan Ngeze's house on the day Tabaro was killed?

THE WITNESS:
Your Honour, when Tabaro was murdered, the people went to see where he had been killed and find out the circumstance of his death.  But I knew that at that time Ngeze was no longer at his house because he was hiding, he had fled.  It was being said that he had been hiding Tutsis, so we did not know where he was.  And even people who were at his house were saying that they did not know where Ngeze was, so I apologise for this. 

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
What I want to know is whether you personally went to the house of Ngeze on the day that Tabaro was killed. 

THE WITNESS:
I did not go in his house.  Rather, we passed in front of his house.  His house was in town.  We looked around, but his house was close so I did not go inside his house.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Did you see any damage being caused -- had been caused to the house of Hassan Ngeze on that date, when you looked at the house?

THE WITNESS:
Those things took place a long time ago.  I do not remember well everything, but I do remember that Ngeze wasn't around because he was being sought by the authorities, who wanted to imprison him or to harm him.  I did not know very well whether his house was seriously damaged.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Did you go close to the house, within a matter of about five to ten feet of the house?

THE WITNESS:
Your Honour, I told you that we passed in front of that place but I did not go close to the house.  We used to pass in front of the house.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Did you notice any damage being caused to the walls or the windows?

THE WITNESS:
You see, it's possible that there was damage there.  I passed -- we passed in front of that house, but I cannot make an assertion to the effect that his house was seriously damaged.

JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
Thank you. 

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Now, Witness, on your second statement that you say you were saying the truth, you told the person who you met that you were listening to RTLM and that's how you heard of the death of the president.  That's true, isn't it?

A.
If you read the statement attentively, I said that immediately after the president's death I found out about the death from neighbours who had listened to RTLM, but personally I had not listened to the RTLM in order to learn about the president's death.

Q.
Yes, you're correct on that, it was neighbours.  Now, you were able to follow the news of what was going on throughout the period of April to July of 1994 by listening to the radio, either RTLM or Radio Rwanda.  That's true, isn't it?

A.
Radio Rwanda was functioning.  It was playing mourning music.  We did not receive well the RTLM -- the reception was not very good when it came to the RTLM.

Q.
But you were able to follow what -- the news of the war and what was happening in Rwanda through the radio, through listening to the radio?  That was the means of knowing what was happening. 

A.
Yes, I used to listen to Radio Rwanda in order to keep abreast of the news and the general situation of the country because there was war in the country.

Q.
And it is true that you would listen and tell your neighbours what you heard, and your neighbours would also listen and tell you what they heard on the radio?  That's true, isn't it?

A.
Radio Rwanda could be received everywhere in Rwanda, but in the case of RTLM, the reception was not good.  All Rwandans had radio sets.  We would listen to information, to news.  And what really concerned us most was the war.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, you have to listen to the questions.  You are not answering them.  Listen carefully to the questions.  You are besides the point. Try again. 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Thank you. 

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Witness, you were able to know what was on Radio RTLM because your neighbours told you what they heard; isn't that true?

A.
That is correct.

Q.
Now, you told this Court that you never heard of -- after that, Ngeze went into hiding after that -- during the period of April to July and nobody knew where he was.  That's what you told the Court.  Now, isn't it true that Ngeze made at least two interviews on RTLM and one nation-wide interview on Radio Rwanda in April of 1994?  So everybody knew where Ngeze was. 

A.
Are you asking me whether Ngeze gave an interview on RTLM or on Radio Rwanda?  What I'm going to tell you is that when Ngeze was accused of hiding Tutsis -- and this is something that he did, he helped them to cross the border -- when he was accused of that, we did not see him again.  He fled. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, did you hear Ngeze on the radio in April '94? 

THE WITNESS:
I never heard Ngeze make a statement over Radio Rwanda.  We often moved about, but I never heard Ngeze's voice on Radio Rwanda.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you hear Ngeze's voice on any other radio channels?

THE WITNESS:
At that time in Rwanda there were two radio stations, that is, Radio Rwanda and RTLM.  Where we lived we do not receive properly Radio Rwanda -- Radio RTLM, but at times I would listen to Radio Rwanda, but I never heard Ngeze's voice on Radio Rwanda.

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Now, Witness, on the second statement, how many white men do you meet in the place that you are on a regular basis?

A.
Are you referring to the second statement where it says I live in --

MR. MARTEL:

The witness has just mentioned the town he lives in, Mr. President.  Mr. President, we should remove from the court records and the court video system the reference to the witness's place of residence.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  And I note that this was not translated to the English version, and that's excellent.   Yes, so it's deleted if it appears in the French version and certainly the video. 

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Witness, please be careful.  Because you are a protected witness, we do not want you to say it in open court where you're living and any personal details that would make people know who you are.  So just give the information as -- just answer my questions directly.  How often do you meet on a -- how often do you meet white men at the place that you are?

A.
I told you that I do not have enough time because of my work where I live.  I was introduced to only one white person, and since I did not have enough time and I was very busy I did not spend a lot of time with him.

THE ACCUSED NGEZE:
There is a problem with translation.  I think that the witness does not understand the question.  They should just pause a bit just to give the time for the witness just to hear the question.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you very much, Mr. Ngeze.  We can handle this. 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
I believe the witness has answered the question.
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MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Now, Witness, when you came to Arusha, when did you meet Defence Counsel?  Did you meet anybody who was on the team of Hassan Ngeze's defence?  

A.
I met them at the place where I was to give my statement and it was on that occasion that I met them. 

Q.
Now, Witness, you did not answer me directly.  Did you meet white men on a consistent basis at the place that you are -- "I want to talk to you about Hassan Ngeze's case"? 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Could those who are interpreting now make sure the buttons are off so that we get the original?  We lost the original.  So if you would simply repeat again, Ms. Kagwi, and then we start again.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Mr. Witness, how often do you meet white men at the place that you are who came to you and tell you that they want to talk to you about the case of Hassan Ngeze? 

A.
I could not speak with them regarding Hassan Ngeze  because I had information regarding himself.  I had given a statement related to Hassan Ngeze. 

Q.
Now, Witness, perhaps we haven't gotten ourselves correctly.  I asked you how often you meet white men at the place that you are who are coming to talk to you about the case of Hassan Ngeze?  How often has that happened ? 

A.
Are you referring to Arusha or are you referring to the place that I used to live?  

Q.
I am referring to the place where you live and where you met with the Defence team of Hassan Ngeze before coming here.  

A.
I am telling you what I remember.  I am not making up anything.  The white people who you are talking about, asking me their names, you are asking me the number of times I met them.  This is something that I do not quite understand.  You are talking about white people, you are talking of the number of times I met them.  I don't understand. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, please look at me.  The only question now is, how often.  How often have you received visits by white persons discussing Ngeze's case with you, and these visits then taking place in the country where you have sought refuge?  How often?  

THE WITNESS:
I told you that in my country of refuge I was introduced to a white person, but I did not spend a long time with them because I had work-related problems.  I was very busy.  I could not abandon for a long time my work.  I was introduced to someone.  If I had spent a lot of time -- a long time with him I would have recognised him, but I was very busy because of my work.  I did not spend a long time with him, and I did not meet him on several occasions. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So did you only have such a meeting once with the white person, or more than once?  Once, or more than once with any white person; not necessarily the same one.  

THE WITNESS:
When he was introduced to me, it was on one occasion; in other words, he was introduced to me once. 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
And, Witness, on that one occasion you give a statement, that's correct, to this white person? 

A.
When I gave my statement, since I had already given another statement earlier and I had given it to a person whom I did not trust, I was later introduced to that person as someone who was defending Ngeze; however, we did not talk for a long time.  It was on that occasion that I saw him, and I was in a hurry because of my work. 

Q.
So we are to believe this person who you met for a short time, because you were in a hurry because of your work, this particular person you told the truth and you did not tell lies like you did the first time? 

A.
I told him the truth according to what I knew at that time. 

Q.
And this was the person that you still cannot remember his face.  That's correct, isn't it? 

A.
I told you that I did not spend a long time with him.  So now I cannot say that he is such and such a person.  You see, if you spend a long time with someone you cannot remember him, but the thing is that I did not spend a long time with that particular person. 

Q.
Okay.  Now, I am going to move on to another question.  Another person, apart from Tabaro who was killed in Gisenyi during the period of April -- in April of 1994, was Semucyo, who was known as -- he was a school teacher and was known as, by some, as a préfet of the Tutsis.  Is that correct? 

A.
Many Tutsis were killed in Gisenyi, so do not ask me their names.  Many Tutsis were killed in Gisenyi. 

Q.
Do you know Bwamafeza, prominent businessman in Gisenyi?  I am sure him you would know.  

A.
I know Bwamafeza. 

Q.
Tutsi businessman killed in April of 1994? 

A.
That is correct.  Maybe he was killed, but I did not witness his death.  There were many Tutsis who were killed. 

Q.
You did not hear of the death of one of the most prominent businessmen in Gisenyi, yet you heard of the death of Tabaro.  How is that possible? 

A.
I told you that in Gisenyi many, many Tutsis were killed.  I remember some of them; for instance, I can tell you such and such a person was killed, but one can forget some of those who were killed.  There were many people killed, and it is possible for me not to remember their names. 

Q.
Witness, what is your religion? 

A.
I am a Muslim. 

Q.
Now, would you know Father Ntagara, also killed, prominent Catholic parishman, also killed April of 1994 in Gisenyi?  Yes or no.  

A.
You are referring to Ntagara?  I do not know Ntagara. 

Q.
Now, so the person that you can recall is Tabaro, yet you cannot remember an important father, an important businessman, Bwamafeza, killed in April of 1994? 

A.
I told you that many Tutsis were killed.  I remember some of them.  When I was asked questions related to Tabaro, since Tabaro was one of my neighbours I remember him, because he was our neighbour, and when he died everyone spoke about his death, and people rushed to the place in order to see what had happened.  And at that time the killings had stopped. 

Q.
Semucyo also lived in your neighbourhood close to Tabaro.  How would you not know of his death? 

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, where is that evidence?  When did that evidence -- when was that evidence produced here?  You can mention anything, but there is no evidence regarding that subject.  So I object to evidence -- to issues being raised regarding which no evidence was produced before this Court.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
You have made this point, Ms. Kagwi.  You are actually re-posing that question to reinforce your point.  You don't need an answer to that.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Okay.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
And it's true, as Mr. Martel says, that this is just something being put to the witness.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honour, some of the human rights reports that we have been putting, these names have been mentioned. 

Now, I would like -- 

MR. PRESIDENT:
You also introduced where the person lived.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
That was -- I mean, I do not want to talk about -- 

MR. PRESIDENT:
We don't need that, but that is why we are cautious here, you see.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
All right.  

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, I don't like the style being used in the other side of this Court.  They are always challenging or questioning your decisions, even those of Judge Pillay.  Once a decision ruling is made, everyone has to comply.  It was the same techniques that were being used by Ms. Monasebian.  I would like that when a rule has been handed down, let us comply.  Prosecutor side should not be allowed to speak after the ruling has been made.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Maybe there was a slight translation problem.  I understood you, Ms. Kagwi, as moving on.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Yes, I am moving on.  

Could the witness be given Kangura No. 6 -- No. 7, page 18.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Now these Tutsis that you say that Ngeze saved, can you give us their full names, please, as that Kangura is being given to you? 

A.
I talked about some Tutsis, including the wife of Mr. Kajanja.  I talked to you about Kagoyi, Ali.  I also gave the name of Dativa, Karitas, both of whom are the daughters of Charles. Those are the names I can remember. 

Q.
I want full names, please? 

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, what has page 18 of issue No. 7 of Kangura got to do with all of this?  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Apparently nothing.  So wait with Kangura, and just go on with this issue of identification of names.  

So, Mr. Witness, now the question is: Can you give us the full names of those four persons you referred to, in addition to the information you have just given us?  The full names.  

THE WITNESS:
It's a long time back.  I can't remember their full names.  Those are names that were not that often used. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So what you have told us is what you can remember?  

THE WITNESS:
Yes, Your Honour.  I have just told you what I can remember.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
And where are these people?  Can you tell us where one of them is? 

A.
You want to say right now.

Q.
Yes.  I would like to know where they are.  If you think it is going to reveal anything -- no.  Just write down where you believe they are so we can be able to find them.  

A.
No, I can't tell you.  It's a long time since I last heard of them. 

Q.
So how do we know these people actually exist?  How can we know?  You don't know their last name, you don't know where they are.  How can we tell? 

MR. MARTEL:
One moment.  That's your problem, Prosecutor.  It's not the problem of the witness.  We know, Your Honour, that the Rwandan society split in 1994.  There were witnesses who moved on foot.  They are all over the world.  That is the business of the Prosecutor.  It's not the business of the witness.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
But that's something you will argue and the Prosecutor will argue in a different way.  But now I think the level of interruption is becoming a bit too high.  Now, please proceed.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Now, Witness, you have that &Kangura& in front of you, don't you? 

Now, can you look at the first part written KA-021172, the first part.  You have page 18, right.  KA-021172.  

A.
I'm not yet there.  I am there. 

Q.
Now, I want you to go to the list where there is a list of names until 11? 

THE ACCUSED NGEZE:
Yesterday I asked if they would give the Kangura, to start with the title, then go to the name.  Don't mislead the witness.  Thank you very much. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Ngeze, you must relax now, please.  This is not misleading the witness.  This is simply a matter of asking him to look at the list in order to identify a portion of the text.  Now, please don't come back to this.  

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Now, Witness have you seen that list?  Now can you read from "Tuboneyeho."  Have you seen it?  Can you start reading, Witness?  

No -- yes, yes, yes.  There.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
You don't have to read that out loud, Mr. Witness.  We have had that read out at least three times in the courtroom.  Just read it -- read it to yourself until the first name on the list, and then Counsel will ask you a question.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Have you finished reading? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
So you can see that Ngeze had already started investigations on Modeste Tabaro as a suspected Inyenzi, from as far back as 1990.  How is it -- 

MR. MARTEL:
I object.  There is Modeste, but there is no Tabaro mentioned.  The Prosecutor assumes that there is automatically Modeste Tabaro, or Modeste refers to Tabaro.  There were at least four Hassans in Gisenyi.  How many more Modestes were there?  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Reformulate, Ms. Kagwi.  But what is actually the point you want to make to this witness now?  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Because earlier he said he had no problems with Modeste.  I will perhaps move on, just to avoid problems.  

BY MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
Okay, Witness, just give back that Kangura. 

Now, Witness, when you left Gisenyi in July of 1997 -- sorry.  1994, it is true that there was no army, RPF army in Gisenyi at that time, and you were able to walk peacefully into Zaïre, into Goma, and enter a refugee camp?  

A.
Yes, that was the situation. 

Q.
Because you moved ahead of the army, isn't it, before the army came and took Gisenyi — now please answer "yes" or "no" if you can — right?  It was because you moved ahead before the army arrived in Gisenyi.  That's true, isn't it?  You sought refuge ahead because you wanted to avoid the hostilities? 

A.
That is correct. 

Q.
Now, it is also true that you were told on the radio, people in Rwanda were told on the radio to get up and go because the RPF was going to come and kill them.  Isn't that true? A.
No, that's not true. 

Q.
They were told to leave Rwanda and go into Goma.  You recall that? 

A.
No, that's not the way things went. 

Q.
Isn't it true that the conseiller de secteur and other people advised people to leave Gisenyi and go into Zaïre? 

A.
No.  We fled at night.  A lot of people came, and all of them ran together.  There were a lot of people because it had occurred to us that the war was moving into the town, so we rose up and left. 

Q.
How did this occur to you?  Where did you get this information?  Did you get the information from the radio that the war was coming to Gisenyi? 

A.
People had come to seek refuge in Gisenyi, to which the war had not yet reached.  And so everybody left because we were hearing explosions and gunfire quite close by, and so the entire population rose up like one man, ran towards the border, got across into Goma.  We were not allowed to go across, but since there were a lot of us we pushed through the border and went into Goma. 

Q.
Were you listening to the radio at that time in July of 1994?  Were you and other people in Rwanda listening to the radio -- in Gisenyi, that you know, to get the information? 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you listen to the radio in July '94, Mr. Witness?  

THE WITNESS:
In the month of July?  You are talking about the month of July?  No, I did not listen to Radio Rwanda. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you listen to any radio in July '94?  

THE WITNESS:
The international radio stations were broadcasting.  Radio Rwanda had a problem because it had moved.  I wasn't too sure whether it was still in operation. 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:

Q.
So you did not know of anybody who was listening to either Radio Rwanda or RTLM? 

A.
At that point in time RTLM was no longer functioning.  It had no means to operate, if my recollection does not fail me. 

Q.
Now, why did you not go back to Rwanda, if you did nothing wrong in April to July of 1994?  I`m sure you did not kill anybody, did you? 

A.
Well, going back to Rwanda, that is the right of a Rwandan; we are afraid of nothing.  Staying in exile is also a right of anyone. 

Q.
Now you said you had no employment during that period of April to July of 1994.  What were your daily activities at that time?  Were you involved in any activities? 

A.
I told you that I just came out of school.  I was at home; I was not working. 

Q.
Did you belong to any party? 

A.
No, I did not belong to any political party. 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honours, I have no further questions for this witness.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Martel?  

MR. MARTEL:
I'm grateful, Your Honour.  Very briefly.

                                                            RE-EXAMINATION.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Questions were put to you by the Prosecutor.  Your answer was that, from time to time you read Kangura and some other newspapers.  Which other newspapers did you read? 

A.
There were a lot of papers in Rwanda.  There was Umuravo; that's a long time back.  I can't remember all the papers, but there were a lot of them. 

Q.
What was contained in those papers?  Did they differ from what appeared in Kangura?

MR. MARTEL:  Mr. President, I notice Ms. Monasebian sort of arranging her things.  Could she just sit down, because that really disturbs me.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
I'm sure you are able to continue, with your abilities of concentration, Mr. Martel.  That works fine.  

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, the Judges have always told us, when you want to speak, stand; in fact, I have been told, "Mr. Martel, sit down, you are not allowed to speak," and now Ms. Monasebian is just doing just about what she wants to do.  It`s a bit of -- 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Leave Ms. Monasebian alone, now, and ask the question.  What is the question?  

MR. MARTEL:
Could she just sit down, or leave the courtroom? because that disturbs me.  I see her moving up and down.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Ms. Monasebian is in the process of sitting down, but now I don't want to spend more time on sitting down and walking around or objections.  Move on.  

MR. MARTEL:
Well, for the record, she is still standing.  

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
You said that Mr. Ngeze was a CDR political party member.  How did you know that? 

A.
To say that people belonged to the CDR party, you know, there were a lot of members in the CDR party, particularly in our own town.  There were a lot of members in the CDR party. 

Q.
I know there were members in the CDR party, but let me just ask you, simply, how you knew that Hassan Ngeze was a member of the CDR party? 

A.
A party member could be recognised when he or she was with other members of that party and stated that he was a member of this or that party.  Ngeze didn't make any move to illustrate or to show that he was a member of this or that party. 

Q.
So why did you say so? 

A.
To say that he was a member of the party?  

Q.
Yes, yes, the CDR party. 

A.
I'm talking about belonging to a political party.  He was a member of that party like anyone else.  I wouldn't say he was one of the leaders, or in the leadership, but again, everyone had the right to belong to a political party. 

Q.
Let me put this question one last time: Was it a rumour, or did Hassan Ngeze himself tell you he was a member of the party? 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honour, that is a very leading question.  It is not acceptable during redirect.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Just ask for the source, Mr. Martel.   

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
How did you know?  What was the source of your information; namely, that Hassan Ngeze was a member of a political party? 

A.
I get to know that Hassan Ngeze was a member of the CDR, because most of the youths were members of the CDR, and that's why I said that Ngeze was also a member of the CDR party. 

Q.
That was a conclusion that you drew.  Is that correct? 

A.
That's what I noticed. 

Q.
Some other point: your testimony was that after Modeste Tabaro's death you passed in front of Hassan Ngeze's house.  Do you remember the specific date of the death of Modeste Tabaro, first of all? 

A.
No, I don't remember the date.  It's a long time ago. 

Q.
In the month of May 1994, did you pass by Hassan Ngeze's house? 

A.
I passed by there quite often, but in those months I didn't go by there that often because there were very few people who were moving around. 

Q.
Is it your testimony that in the month of May 1994 you saw no damage inflicted on or caused to Hassan Ngeze's house?  Is that your testimony? 

A.
I said that since I went by, or in front of Hassan Ngeze's house one would not say there was very damaged; maybe the window panes or some other areas of the house.  I wouldn't say it was heavily damaged.  I went by, but I didn't spend that much time in front of that house. 

Q.
Did you see any bullet holes on the house? 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
That is leading, and I ask that the question be struck.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
We can't strike it, but you can't ask the question that way.  That was terribly leading, Mr. Martel.  So either you reformulate, or you move on.  

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
It was your testimony that there could have been some window panes broken.  Did you see any broken window panes in Hassan Ngeze's house in 1994?  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Asked and answered.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
You are trying to drag it out of him now, Mr. Martel.  We have had his testimony, so you can't lead him through the details into this issue.  So please be careful.  Reformulate or move on. The witness has actually answered the question.  

MR. MARTEL:
I was merely seeking further explanations, Your Honour.  

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
You stated that in July 1994 in Gisenyi, based on questions put to you by my colleague, that you left Rwanda prior to the arrival of the army.  Please wait for my question.  Just a minute. 

Was it an army of a country, or was it an armed political party that did not belong to any country that was known by the name "RPF"?   

A.
RPF was an independent army, not of a political party.  

Q.
Rather than an army, is it not that the -- 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honours, leading.  And I believe that Counsel wants to give evidence.  He should just wait until he has to give his address.  

MR. MARTEL:
If my colleague had not touched on this matter -- when we talk about the murder of the president, they talk about a plane accident; when we talk about RPF aggression, they talk about the army.  They say things the way they are.  I am putting this question because the Prosecutor did ask that question.  I need those details on the people who caused the flight of the population in Gisenyi.  I wait for your ruling.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  What is the exact wording of the question, Mr. Martel?  Could you repeat it now, after your response?   

MR. MARTEL:
The Prosecutor had stated that the Gisenyi population had fled in advance of the arrival of the army.  Was it the army of Rwanda, or was it a group of armed rebels who went by the name RPF at the time?  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honour, even though the question is still leading, it has been asked and answered by this witness .

MR. PRESIDENT:
But that happens from time to time.  Mr. Witness, you said that you -- 

THE WITNESS:
It has been a long time that we were together with the Rwandan army.  We could not be running away from the Rwandan army.  It is the rebels, the RPF, who was coming to take over power. 

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
So why was the population afraid of them? 

A.
It would take a long time to explain.  For a long time back, RPF soldiers were bringing or introducing insecurity in the country and throughout the country. 

Q.
You talked about insecurities.  Is that correct? 

A.
That is correct. 

MR. MARTEL:
I have no further questions.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you, Mr. Martel.  

Was Mr. Ngeze arrested because he hid persons that were suspected of being accomplices?  

THE WITNESS:
That was not the main reason for his being jailed.  When Ngeze said that Rwanda was going to be attacked he was thrown into prison.  When he predicted the death, the imminent death of the president, he was thrown into jail.  He was also being sought because it was alleged that he was hiding people who were characterized as being accomplices, or suspected of being accomplices. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, when was the first instance, according to your knowledge, when Mr. Ngeze was apprehended because he had hidden Tutsi?  You know when that first happened? 

THE WITNESS:
I think Ngeze was not arrested because he was hiding Tutsis.  He was being sought.  He was not arrested for that reason.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
You were a neighbour, were you, of or living in the neighbourhood of the Tabaro/Ngeze area.  Is that your testimony?  

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Without being too precise, how far away did you live from Tabaro's house?  

THE WITNESS:
Between my house and that of Ngeze and Tabaro, I would say between 150 and 200 metres, if I am not wrong, but it's a long time ago. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you pass by Tabaro's house frequently?  

THE WITNESS:
I was a young man, and we were in touch with the youths of that area, you know, before the war, before 1994.  I went by there frequently, but I wasn't there, or standing there too often for too long a time. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Would you be passing by Tabaro's house almost daily in the period from the 17th of April to the, say, 20th of April?  

THE WITNESS:
After President Habyarimana`s death, Radio Rwanda announced that members of the population were not to leave their places of abode and move around, as a result of the state of insecurity.  So I no longer passed by Tabaro's house frequently.  But I cannot say that I did not pass by there, Tabaro's house. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Can you -- you don't remember whether you passed by Tabaro's house in the period from the 7th to the 20th of April?  Is it that you don't remember, or is it your testimony that you did pass by, but you don't exactly know how many times?  

THE WITNESS:
That's what I told you.  This has been a long time back.  I can say that I went by there, whereas I may not have passed by there, and that could be a problem.  You know, it's a long time back.  We had lost our minds.  I don't know how to explain this to you. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Your explanation is very easy to understand.  Now, why was Tabaro killed?  

THE WITNESS:
You are asking me how he was killed?  You know, during this period the Tutsis were being sought.  There were people who wanted to do something harmful to them just because of their ethnic background.  Maybe that is the reason why Tabaro was killed. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Do you know any other reason why Tabaro was killed than the reason you just indicated?  

THE WITNESS:
No, I don't think there is any other reason. 

MR. MARTEL:
Just one question.  

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
You were in Gisenyi in the months of April, May, June and part of July.  Did you see Hutus being harassed, mistreated and killed? 

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Your Honour, that does not arise from your question.  

THE INTERPRETER:
Sorry, we didn't hear the speaker. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Martel, the objection is that Ms. Kagwi is of the view that this doesn't arise from my question.  That is the objection, and what is your answer to that?  

MR. MARTEL:
My answer to that is, your questions did raise the possibility that Tutsi were being mistreated.  Now, our position is that, not only Tutsis were being mistreated; Hutus also were being mistreated.  It was war.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
I accept that you may ask that question, Mr. Martel.  So just continue.  

MR. MARTEL:
I'm most grateful, Your Honour.  Would you want me to repeat my question, or ... 

THE WITNESS:
You could repeat the question. 

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
You were in Rwanda in April, May, June and half of July.  Did you see or were you aware of Hutus being mistreated, if not killed? 

A.
I do remember that during that period there were Hutus who had been mistreated and some of them were killed.  If I remember well, some of them were killed.  And as I told you a couple of moments back, there was this young man who was saved by Ngeze.  He was a Hutu. 

MR. MARTEL:
That all.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
You will recall that when you asked questions in your cross-examination, Ms. Kagwi, you put to the witness this handwritten Kinyarwandan document, and parts of it were read into the record and we got a translation, and later onMaître Martel objected to the substance of that document, possibly disputing the translation.  For that reason I wonder whether, just to have the records clear, whether you would think it is preferable to tender this document as an exhibit?  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Yes, Your Honour, I would.  So it should be P-231.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
That should be a practical way, don't you think so, Mr. Martel?  P-231.  

MS. KAGWI-NDUNGU:
Two thirty-two, Your Honour.  I'm just being corrected.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  


(Exhibit No. P232 admitted)

MR. MARTEL:
You have actually rescued Prosecutor Kagwi.  That's okay.  Thank you.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
I don't think I rescued anyone, because you may very well be right in your translation of the Kinyarwandan version.  I only want to know -- so at least I didn't rescue anyone, in 

substance.  

MR. MARTEL:
But the arguments had already been concluded and evidence had been tendered, any way.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
The Court of course needs to have all the evidence which is relevant, in front of it.  So that is why this is being done, just for clarity reasons 


Mr. Witness, this was the end of your testimony.  Thank you for coming to the court and giving evidence.  We wish you a very safe journey home.  Please do not discuss your testimony with anyone.

THE WITNESS:
Thank you.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
So then the morning break is approaching about 15 minutes.  Is the next witness ready, Mr. Martel?  

MR. MARTEL:
Yes, yes, Your Honour.  This will be a very brief one as witness.  Can I bring the next witness after this one who will be coming in this afternoon, BAZ10, or should we wait until tomorrow morning?  

MR. PRESIDENT:
On no, no, no.  We would -- if you could just give us an indication now for BAZ33, that is about for you in chief --

MR. MARTEL:
Ten minutes.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
All right.  I suppose it takes a long time to bring the witness into the courtroom.  I mean, we could even make enquiries as to whether Witness 10 could come before the lunch break, then.  So Registry if you could find out whether Witness BAZ10 could be brought to the courtroom immediately after Witness 33, because the next witness will be only for about -- would last for about half an hour, maximum.  Thank you very much, Mr. Martel.  MR. MARTEL:
Thank you.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Break.  
(Court recessed from 1110H to 1135H)

MR. PRESIDENT:
Good morning, Madam Witness.  

THE WITNESS:
Good morning. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
You will be referred to as BAZ33 in these proceedings.  Be careful, since you are a protected witness, not to reveal your identity when you answer questions from the parties. 

You have to tell the truth.  The registry will now administer the sworn declaration.    
(Declaration made by Witness BAZ33 in Kinyarwanda)

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, Madam, you will be asked questions first from the Defence, and then from the Prosecution.  Just listen carefully and answer the questions as briefly as possible. 

Mr. Martel?  

MR. MARTEL:
Thank you, Mr. President.  

Could the witness be shown the personal particulars document.  She will need an interpreter.  She will need to be assisted by an interpreter. 

WITNESS BAZ33

first having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Witness, an interpreter will assist you in reading your personal details document.  

Madam, do you admit that the information on that sheet is exact, is accurate?  

A.
Yes, the information is accurate. 

Q.
Witness --

MR. PRESIDENT:
3D-168 under seal .

MR. MARTEL:
Thank you, Mr. President.  
(Exhibit No. 3D168 was admitted)

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Witness, do you know Mr. Hassan Ngeze? 

A.
I know him. 

Q.
How did you come to know him? 

A.
I knew him previously when we used to go to pray in the mosque. 

Q.
On the 6th of April 1994, where were you?  In which town? 

A.
I was in Gisenyi. 

Q.
When did you leave Rwanda? 

A.
I left Rwanda in 1994. 

Q.
Do you remember the month? 

A.
I do not remember the month. 

Q.
Did you leave Rwanda alone? 

A.
I left with my mother and my sisters. 

Q.
Were you alone, or you were with other people? 

A.
When we fled, we fled with many people. 

Q.
Between the 6th of April and the date of your departure from Rwanda, did you see Mr. Hassan Ngeze? 

A.
When I left Rwanda?  

Q.
No.  Please listen attentively.  Between the 6th of April 1994 and the time of your departure from Rwanda, during that period did you see Mr. Hassan Ngeze? 

A.
I saw him once.  

Q.
Was he in a vehicle, or on foot?  

A.
He was on foot. 

Q.
What was he wearing?

THE INTERPRETER:
Or, rather, the question was: "Do you know how he was dressed?"  And the witness said, "Yes, I know." 

BY MR. MARTEL: 

Q.
What was he wearing? 

A.
He was in Muslim robes. 

Q.
Was he carrying a weapon? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Was he alone? 

A.
He was accompanied by his Muslim friends. 

Q.
Do you know how many people were with him? 

A.
I do not remember. 

Q.
How were his friends dressed? 

A.
They were in civilian clothes: they were wearing shirts and trousers. 

Q.
Were they armed? 

A.
No. 

Q.
What do you know with regard to Mr. Hassan Ngeze? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, I don't think it is appropriate for Defence Counsel to phrase questions, "what do you know about Hassan Ngeze" for three reasons.  First reason being, it can take it outside of a witness statement or summary; second reason, it is an entirely vague question and can elicit all manner of irrelevant and inappropriate testimony.  And so for that reason Counsel has to ask a precise question.  This is the worst type of question a Defence Counsel can ask a witness.  Thank you.
(Pages 17 to 32 by Karlene Ruddock)
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MR. PRESIDENT:
In some situations such a question may lead us astray, but in this situation I doubt whether it will.  So let's only see how it develops.  Please continue with the question.  Let's see how it develops.

MR. MARTEL:
Thank you, Mr. President.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Would you like me to repeat the question, Witness?

A.
Yes.

Q.
What do you know about Mr. Hassan Ngeze?

A.
I know that Hassan Ngeze is a Muslim.  He was a journalist, publisher of a newspaper.  And he predicted that Rwanda would be attacked.

Q.
To your knowledge, did he play a role in the events of April 1994 and the events that occurred thereafter?

A.
I know nothing about that.

MR. PRESIDENT:
That is the answer.  Just take the next question, Mr. Martel.  It is okay.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Do you know anyone by the name Mukaki, M-U-K-A-K-I?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
If I may.

MR. MARTEL:
You may not.  

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Yes, thank you.  Your Honour, the problem with this is, this is the first time during this session, Your Honour, that we don't have a witness statement.  And, although Counsel is not required to give a witness statement if there is not a witness statement, we are now going into names of individuals.  If Your Honour looks at the summary, on page 21 of the summary, every single thing that is in the summary, all four lines, have already been enlisted by this witness.  The summary only says she knew Ngeze for a long time and other things like that.

MR. PRESIDENT:
We don't translate this, of course. 

Yes, please go on.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
So, for that reason, Your Honour, here we are in a situation where, first of all, we have a completely insufficient summary and no witness statement.  All of the summary has already been enlisted by the Defence.  And if the Defence wants to rest on the notice that they have given the Office of the Prosecutor, albeit entirely, very late notice, this was not even one of the witnesses that was listed on the list of 13.  So, I say now to allow the Defence to:  A, go outside of the summary, when we've had no notice; B, ask such vague questions, not give the Prosecution any notice of this Witness having come in, it is prejudicial at this point.  And if the examination stops now, I won't even cross-examine this witness.

MR. PRESIDENT:
You need to comment upon this, Mr. Martel?

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, I realise that Counsel Martel (sic) is continuing to write her own rules of procedure.  She has blatantly complained about the fact that there is no written statement.  That is true.  And there is no obligation on the part of the Defence to give her such a statement.  There have been cases where we have had witnesses who came on the spur of the moment, at the last minute, and this is such the case.  And the Defence should not be blamed for that.

My question is not vague.  It is extremely precise.  The witness has, by the way, responded to that question saying that she knew that person.  And the same way as when we talked of Modeste Tabaro dozens of times, this is such a case.  I am not doing anything exceptional.  She said she knows this person, this is not a name and I am putting it to the witness.

MR. PRESIDENT:
You know, Mr. Martel, we all agree that there is no obligation, that is what also the Prosecution said, not an obligation to provide a summary.  The problem now is whether you can comment upon the issue, that you are now outside of the scope of the summary in BAZ33, where there is no mention made of this particular person.  And the underlying reason for this objection is, of course, if you don't have notice it is more difficult to prepare for cross-examination. So what is your reaction to this?  That is it.  Can you just address that point, please?

MR. MARTEL:
I will read this summary.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may.

MR. PRESIDENT:
No.  Mr. Martel, we have the summary of BAZ33.  Where is the notice of one particular person in that summary? 

MR. MARTEL:
The summary clearly states that the witness knows that Mr. Hassan Ngeze saved several persons.  I will rephrase the question, referring specifically to the summary, did Mr. Hassan Ngeze save the lives of Tutsi.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may, I hate to be -- the problem  --

MR. MARTEL:


(No translation)

MR. PRESIDENT:
Just a moment  --

MS. MONASEBIAN:
One point of order.  Mr. Martel should not be interrupting the Office of the Prosecutor.  And I ask that he be instructed not to interrupt me.  Thank you.  Now, if I may  --

MR. MARTEL:
(No translation).

MR. PRESIDENT:
Ms. Monasebian, what is it now?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Well, the problem is this entire examination.  But what it is now is that he is now saying, did Hassan Ngeze save the Tutsis.  That is leading.  He has to phrase his questions properly -- 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  Madam Witness, do you know whether Hassan Ngeze saved any Tutsi, that is the question.  And now we must relax on both sides, please.

What is your answer to that question, please?

THE WITNESS:
Yes, he saved the lives of Tutsi.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Do you know the names of any persons that he saved?

THE WITNESS:
I do not remember those persons because that happened a long time ago.  But in our neighbourhood there were Tutsis.  One night, it was said that Hassan Ngeze had helped Tutsi to cross over into Zaire.  We heard this, and the following day this happened -- we heard it the day after this happened. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
The question I'm putting to you is:  Do you yourself know people who were saved by Mr. Hassan Ngeze? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may.

THE WITNESS:
The witnesses I referred to -- precisely, the neighbours I referred to, to be very precise.

MR. PRESIDENT:
What is your objection now, Ms. Monasebian?  I think things are developing okay now.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Yes.  No, the witness herself made the objection.  She said she already gave the answer.

MR. PRESIDENT:
But please don't over do, Ms. Monasebian. 


Mr. Martel, proceed.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Your answer is that you do not recall the names of any people who were saved by  Mr. Hassan Ngeze -- whose lives were saved by Mr. Hassan Ngeze?

A.
I do not recall the names of those persons.

MR. MARTEL:
I have no further questions.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Any cross-examination? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
The Office of the Prosecution has no questions of this witness, but makes one note for the record:  All of such evidence about Mr. Ngeze having saved Tutsis has become now cumulative, repetitive.  And the cost to this Tribunal to bring 20 and 30 witnesses from abroad to testify to this, is really a shame.  And so we say, Your Honour, at some point we ask the Court to go through the summaries and to cut down this type of testimony.  That is the first thing.

And also, another reason why I am not examining this witness is because we had absolutely very late notice and no ability to investigate --

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President  --

MR. PRESIDENT:
No, no.  And this, of course, is not translated to the witness.  Please proceed.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Thank you, Your Honour.  And this is certainly not a protest.  I have chosen, for my own professional reasons, not to examine this witness.  But in addition to those professional reasons, I do note, Your Honours, that the Office of the Prosecutor wants these proceedings to end as quickly as possible, with the Defence getting all of the due process that is being accorded to them.  But we should be given notice.  We should be allowed to investigate these witnesses.  The fact that an accused may have had one or two pet Tutsis, does not mitigate their guilt.  Thank you, Your Honour.

MR. PRESIDENT:
This was also argumentation, let me note this for the record.  Do you have anything to say now,      Mr. Martel?

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, very briefly.  Everything is very simple.  If you want to make life easy for all of the parties, the OTP should admit that Mr. Hassan Ngeze never wore a military uniform; he never had weapons; they would have to admit that he saved Tutsis' lives and so on and forth. If the Prosecution admits these things, then we won't have to need all of these witnesses' evidence.  But what are they doing?  They are fighting against these facts and actually they are making our work more difficult.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Madam Witness, your testimony has now come to an end after a brief hearing.  So we thank you for having come this way to the Tribunal.  And we wish you a safe journey home.


While we are waiting for the next witness could I ask you, there was a request for admissions here.  Now, that request contained several elements.  But one of them was that Hassan Ngeze saved some Tutsi lives.  Now, is that an admission that the Prosecution thinks that it would place on record or what is the situation?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
With regard to the three admissions that they seek of us:  The first being that Hassan Ngeze saved the lives of Tutsis, we do not agree with that.  But what we do say to expedite the proceedings is this, Your Honour, that they've called maybe eight or nine witnesses to this fact.  They can call 10 or 15 more and the Office of the Prosecutor may examine some, and some of them the Office of the Prosecutor may not examine.  When we examine them it is because we usually have some  credibility issues based on our investigations.  Perhaps Mr. Ngeze can come up with a witness who gives more credible evidence, a name of a person, and they can bring the person who was saved in.  If they were to bring a Tutsi who was saved in, that would be one issue.  But to bring cumulative evidence like this over and over again, we do not accept.  And the fact that they have given a list of 165 witnesses, they've given a final list of 55, and there is not one Tutsi in there;  for them to now go and look for one and say, okay we will bring a Tutsi, they have had their chance at this type of testimony.  They've had  ten witnesses on this issue.  And so, even if they were to bring a Tutsi, what would that prove?

So, Your Honours, at this point I asked for Your Honours to review Kupreskic decision that says that, in the case of genocide, genocide is not a normal crime like all others, and that a person could have been good their entire life and still have killed the other ethnic group. 

With respect to Hassan Ngeze wearing a uniform or not wearing a uniform, it is our testimony that he certainly, on many occasions, wore a uniform.  But we agree with Mr. Ngeze that not every single day of his life in 1994, was he uniformed.  Many times he says he was wearing Muslim clothes; well we will stipulate that on a number of occasions Mr. Ngeze was dressed in Muslim clothes and that he did not 100 percent of the time wear a uniform.

Thank you.  I think that was all of the stipulations that they were seeking.  If there is another one, I will address that.

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, very briefly.  I'm going to make my learned friend happy.  We are going to have Tutsis who are coming -- will come here to say that they were saved by Mr. Hassan Ngeze.  Now, we’ve brought witnesses who we could bring here.  And we called them according to the order decided by the Defence, so as to allow the Tribunal to function most effectively and to expeditiously hear the witness.  I agree with the Prosecution that the Defence plan may appear not to be so obvious.  However, the Prosecution cannot challenge our plan just using two or three witnesses who come to say -- to testify here saying that they did not see Mr. Hassan Ngeze wear a military uniform. We now know that what we have heard before this Court really mitigates for the acquittal of our client.  But there will be other witnesses who will come here to assert the same thing, because the Prosecution is actually sticking to its position of not accepting the truth. 

Now, let us move onto another subject. Witness BAZ10, apparently, is on his way here.  Since he is not -- he is a witness who will be examined briefly and will not be as long as the witness who was examined here this morning.  I would request that we adjourn until 2 p.m., so that I can have the opportunity of meeting, briefly, with the witness because I saw him only last Saturday, and I saw him again on Monday evening due to specific problems that he had.  I don't know whether those specific problems have been resolved.  And that specific problem made us change the order of appearance making it that witness, and it is a lady, was placed last.  So if the Court grants my request then we can call her at 2 or 2:30 p.m. so that I can meet her.  My assistant has informed me that the witness has just arrived.  So I respectfully submit what I've just said to you, Mr. President.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Mr. President.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Ms. Ben Salimo, she is in the building now?

MS. BEN SALIMO:
Mr. President, the witness is already in the building.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Ms. Monasebian.  

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Yes, the only thing that I wanted say, Your Honours, is if they want more time, that is fine, but we do need time as well.  And that is because of late disclosure of both witness statements and there was an additional one given to us last week.  And we have investigators in the field presently involved in an investigation about this witness.  So, I think I could be even briefer if I were to start tomorrow morning and go very brief or to have an hour in-between the cross-examination and the direct examination. So, as long as we are given time, as well.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So, this implies that both sides would wish some time to run before the witness starts her testimony, that is the situation.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Well, the time that I would need, Your Honour, would be after the cross-examination, not before.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, I understand that, of course, but you have investigations ongoing and that would assist you.

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President, I don't know why Ms. Monasebian should be given -- would be granted such time.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, on a different matter, not that.  And Your Honour, if I don't need the time after my cross-examination, I surely will not ask for it.  So, I'll leave -- if Your Honours could keep an open mind about that and we will come back to it.  


But on the other matter, just briefly, Your Honours.  We've gotten yesterday the same list that I believe Your Honours now have of the witnesses that will be called in the next session.  And we have a summary of all of those 25 Ngeze witnesses that they wish to call except for two.  And one of them is an expert, and I'm sure we will get that summary in time.  And the other one is a factual witness. But of those 25 summaries, Your Honour, I just note for the record that not one of them, not one of the summaries and not one of the witness statements talk about Tutsis being saved, saying that a Tutsi was saved.  So, clearly the Defence is either going to be making additional motions to that effect or has not given the Office of the Prosecutor notice.  And to that extent, Your Honours, we oppose them being able to, at the last minute, add such a witness.  We just say that for the record because we review all of the summaries very, very carefully.  And we note that not one of them says that a Tutsi -- I am a Tutsi and I was saved by Hassan Ngeze.  Thank you.

MR. MARTEL:
Mr. President.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Martel, your request to start at 2 o'clock is granted.  So, we start at 2 o'clock.  This gives you the possibility to meet with the witness in view of those two problems or circumstances that you indicated.  So we start at 2 o'clock.

MR. MARTEL:
Thank you.

MR. PRESIDENT:
The other issues raised, that is duplicity of testimonies, whether the witnesses will testify about matters outside of statements and so forth, that is something that we will not deal with now.  And is there one factual declaration lacking then, Ms. Monasebian, of these 25  --

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour --

MR. PRESIDENT:
Because you said there were 25, one expert, one factual, two statements are lacking.  So are you actually saying that one factual statement for one witness you do you not have?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Yes, Your Honour.  Of the  --

MR. PRESIDENT:
Which witness is that, so that Mr. Martel can clarify the situation to you outside of the courtroom?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
I believe it is RM6, but I will double check on that.

MR. PRESIDENT:
All right.  So Mr. Martel, there is a slight problem with one witness, if you could only look into the matter.  And then we meet at 2 o'clock again, and we start with the last witness, which is available this week, I understand.

MR. MARTEL:
But maybe this -- she is now talking about putting us on the track of RM6.  Is she sure of that or isn't she sure of that.

MR. PRESIDENT:
This is what you discuss outside of the courtroom.  Now I'm only initiating a dialogue, but the rest you have to take care of yourself.  But now the point is made, there is a slight problem, please solve it.  And then we meet at 2 o'clock.
(Court recessed from 1210 to 1405)
MR. PRESIDENT:
The Court is in session.  Good afternoon, Madam Witness.

THE WITNESS:
Good afternoon.

MR. PRESIDENT:
You will be referred to as Witness BAZ during these proceedings.  You are a protected witness, be careful when you answer questions so as not to reveal your identity.  You have to tell the truth.  And the Registry will now take the sworn declaration.

MR. MATEMANGA:
Please stand up, raise your right hand and say after me.


(Declaration made by Witness BAZ10 in Kinyarwanda).

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, you will be asked questions first from the Defence on that side and then from the Prosecution on the other side.  Please answer as briefly as possible.

Mr. Martel.  

MR. MARTEL:
Your Honour, thank you.  I would like the witness to be shown the document containing her personal details.  The witness will need an interpreter to assist her.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now with the aid of the interpreter, Madam Witness, please read through the document and see whether the information is correct.

THE WITNESS:
The details in this document are correct.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And the signature on that document is yours, is it?

THE WITNESS:
Indeed, it is my signature.

MR. MARTEL:
Under seal, 3D169, 169.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Admitted.


(Exhibit 3D169 admitted, under seal)

MR. MARTEL:
Much obliged, Your Honour.  I would now like the witness to be shown her two statements, please.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may.  I think it would be more preferable that first the witness be asked did she made any statements and recognise them that way, rather then being given two statements in this manner.  We don't hand the witness the statement first.

MR. PRESIDENT:
We haven't followed this procedure now during four witnesses before this event. Do you have a particular reason to oppose this in relation to this witness or is it based on principle?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
I do, in that some witnesses couldn't even remember having made some of these statements.  And it is important for the Prosecutor to know the quality of their memory and recollection, rather than them having a statement put before them in that manner.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Madam Witness, do you recall having made statements in this case, previously, to investigators?

THE WITNESS:
I made a statement.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Do you recall whether you have made one statement or more statements, one statement or more statements?

THE WITNESS:
I gave two statements.  The first one was made a long time ago.  And then I made a second statement after the first one.  I think I made two statements

WITNESS BAZ10

first having been duly sworn

testified as follows

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
I am going to ask you questions.  Firstly, on the statement which is a manuscript, do you recognise that statement?

A.
I recognise that statement because I'm the one -- I am the author.  But I am not the one who wrote it, because I had my -- I had a child in the hospital at the time.  But I must say that subsequently I reread the statement.  And I saw that it was in conformity with what I had said and so I appended my signature to it.

Q.
Would you know when that statement was made?

A.
At this point in time I don't remember. It is a long time back when I made that written statement. It was written by hand.

MR. MARTEL:
Why did my colleague stand?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
The only reason why I stood, Your Honour, is if she has the two documents before her, it would seem like an inappropriate question to ask when the documents are before her.

MR. PRESIDENT:
All I noted was that she was just looking at me all of the time.  Are there -- the  documents are with Mr. Matemanga.  And you just keep them there for a moment, please, Mr. Matemanga.  That is all right.  No problem. 

Yes, Mr. Martel.

MR. MARTEL:
I mean, this is just an introductory move, I can't imagine what is going to happen later on.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
You say you don't remember the date; is that right?

A.
I don't remember the date.  All I know is that it is a long time since I made that statement.

Q.
Do you know to whom you made the statement?

A.
I know the person to whom I made the statement.

Q.
Was it just one or several people?

A.
One person.

Q.
Was the person white or a black person?

A.
It was a black.

MR. MARTEL:
I would like the Witness to be shown the statement dated 18 September 2002.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Let me take you to page two, do you recognise that signature that appears at the bottom of that page?

A.
That is my signature.

Q.
Was the statement recorded, indeed recorded on the 18th of September 2002?

A.
Yes.  Since -- because before signing I checked whether what I said had been recorded in this document, I even checked the date.  And when I found that this was in conformity with what I said, I signed.

Q.
Now, did you meet me in 2002?

A.
I did not meet you.

Q.
When did we meet for the first time?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, I would just prefer that he ask, did we ever meet before, and then when did we meet for the first time.

MR. MARTEL:
I'm trying to go as fast as I can, Your Honour.  I'm taking some shortcuts.  As you quite rightly said, we have been dealing in this manner with some four or five witnesses.  And we have to deal with some two, three witnesses a day.  I am sure my colleague is not accustomed to making these kinds of sacrifices.  I mean, she should be accustomed to it if she wants us to complete our work today.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Madam Witness, have you seen -- have you met this gentleman before you saw him in the courtroom earlier today?

THE WITNESS:
I have not seen him.

MR. MARTEL:
Your Honour –

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Madam, the Judge was talking about me.  You said you have not seen me before today?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, I mean this is really quite clear what the witness said the first time and -- 

MR. PRESIDENT:
I will handle this.  Madam Witness, the lawyer in black gown there, have you seen him before you entered into the courtroom, before you saw him earlier today?  This gentleman there, have you seen him before you saw him today?

THE WITNESS:
I saw him once, when he found me in the country where I was before coming here.

MR. MARTEL:
Excellent.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
And when we met, Witness, did you make mention of the existence of your first statement in handwritten form?

A.
I did not talk to you about it.

Q.
Thank you.  Do you know Hassan Ngeze?

A.
I know him.  I know Hassan Ngeze.  He was my neighbour.  I know him because we used to pray in the same mosque.  I knew him as a journalist.  He worked with a Tutsi by the name of Kajeguhakwa and others. I knew him as a journalist who worked for a paper.  And subsequently, he set up his own paper, the Kangura.  So while he was working with Kajeguhakwa and others, they had a paper.  Subsequently, he created his own paper by the name Kangura.  He started condemning the misconduct of the first group with which he worked.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Do we need the spelling of this Kajeguhakwa; do we need that spelling for the parties?

MR. MARTEL:
Witness is referring to Mr. Valence or should that be admitted?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
If Counsel will admit there is one Modeste we will admit there is one Mr. Valence.

MR. PRESIDENT:
I take it that there is no need to have the spelling of that name.  All right, please proceed.  That is how I interpret the last two remarks.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
The man that you are talking about, what was his first name?

A.
I said that I knew Hassan Ngeze when he was a journalist.  He was working with a Tutsi by the name of Kajeguhakwa xxxxxxx and a certain Ravi.  They were working for the Kanguka paper.

Q.
Where were you on the 6th of April, 1994?

A.
I was at our place in Gisenyi.

Q.
When did you leave Rwanda?

A.
I don't remember the date when I left Rwanda, but I ran away at the same time as the others, when everyone ran away from Gisenyi.

Q.
Did you see Hassan Ngeze between the 6th of April and the time when you fled from Rwanda?

A.
I saw him.

Q.
How many occasions, on how many occasions?

A.
I believe I saw him once.  I didn't see him often.  Previously, I used to see him quite frequently.

Q.
When you saw him, was he on foot or in a vehicle?

A.
The first time I saw him on foot, it was at the mosque, we were going for prayers.  And the next time he was still on foot, he was accompanied by two young people.  And it was customary for him to move around.  And he passed in front of our place of residence.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Madam Witness, did you see Hassan Ngeze on one occasion or on two occasions?

THE WITNESS:
I saw him on two occasions.

MR. PRESIDENT:
These two occasions, were they on the same day or on different days?

THE WITNESS:
On different days.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Can you remember the month of these two days?

THE WITNESS:
I remember that it was in April, but I don't remember the days.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
That first time it was on foot, you said. What was he wearing?

A.
I saw him when we were at the mosque.  We were actually coming out of the mosque.  He was wearing a jalabiyya.  He also had a handkerchief on the head and on top of it, there was a cap.

Q.
Was he armed?

A.
I never saw him carrying a weapon.

Q.
Is that the only time you saw him?  Do you remember the month when you saw him? 

A.
The second time I saw him was before the occasion that I talked to you about.  It was in the month of March.

Q.
Well, it is the other way around.  You saw him just once after the 6th of April?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may.

THE WITNESS:
I saw him once after the 6th, then I saw him at the mosque.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So you saw him once in April, is that the testimony?

THE WITNESS:
In April, I saw him on that occasion when we were coming out of the mosque.

MR. PRESIDENT:
That was the only occasion in April?

THE WITNESS:
On that occasion I saw him with some young men and they passed in front of our house.  That should be at the end of March, early April, but before the 6th.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Madam Witness, we are now trying to clarify when you saw Mr. Ngeze.  Now, the time you saw him coming from  --

THE WITNESS:
(No translation).

MR. PRESIDENT.


-- the time you saw him close to the mosque, was that before or after the 6th of April?

THE WITNESS:
It was before the 6th of April.

THE PRESIDENT:
Was that the time that you saw him wearing a jalabiyya and handkerchief and  cap, was that before the 6th of April?

THE WITNESS:
Yes, that was the occasion, we were coming out of the mosque.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you see him after the 6th of April?

THE WITNESS:
After the 6th of April, I didn't see him any more.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So how many times did you, did you --  you only saw him once after the 6th of April until you fled; is that your testimony?

MR. MARTEL:
(No translation).

MR. PRESIDENT:
No, you never saw him after the 6th of April?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Right.

THE WITNESS:
I never saw him again. 
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BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
When you saw him, end of March, early April, what was he wearing? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may?  Your Honour -- Witness, please don't answer. 

Now Mr. Martel adds, "When you saw him, end of March, early April."  He's been leading throughout.  I know Your Honours don't want the Office of the Prosecutor to interrupt, but Mr. Martel should be made to properly ask questions, and if he cannot, Judge Møse could ask all the questions, that's what I submit, because now it's become contenatious (sic) to make such suggestions.  Before, he said it was the other way around. 

Your Honours, it is a pattern, and I do have a right as an officer of this court to demand integrity in the testimony given by the defence.  Thank you.

MR. PRESIDENT:
I don't quite understand your remark about Chamber not wanting objections from the Prosecutor.  It is not the case at all, Ms. Monasebian, so relax a little bit now.

Now, what did you want to pursue, Mr. Martel?  The witness has now stated that she did not see this person after the 6th of April. 

Is that your testimony, Madam Witness? 

THE WITNESS:
Your Honour, could you repeat your question?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Is it your testimony that you did not see Hassan Ngeze after the 6th of April; you only saw him before the 6th of April?

THE WITNESS:
I think I saw him before the 6th of April, but it's a long time back and it is difficult even to be approximate when it comes to dates.  One was not bothered about remembering dates.  We didn't know that questions were going to be put to us on it, except that in the month of April I saw him on two occasions.  He was wearing Muslim attire, a jalaba and a cap.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Before the 6th of April? 

THE WITNESS:
I saw him before the 6th of April. 

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
Please, listen.  Do you remember the death of the president? 

A.
I remember the death of the president because there was a lot of hullabaloo around this event.  Even following the death of the president Hassan Ngeze's house was attacked by soldiers, because he had predicted in his paper that the president was going to die and people thought he was an accomplice of the RPF because all the things that he predicted seemed to occur ex post facto.

Q.
We'll get back to that.  My question is simple.  After the president's death, did you see Hassan Ngeze? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may.  This question has been asked eight times, did you see after April 7th.  Eight times, four by Your Honours and two by Mr. Martel.  And now to ask it again another way, at some point it becomes a mockery.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Four plus two should be six, I think.  But anyhow, many times that question has been asked. 

So that's where we are now, Mr. Martel.  We have tried now six times, and that's her testimony before this Chamber now.

MR. MARTEL:
No, not in that way, not in that manner.  Yesterday we had a witness who didn't even know that there were 12 months in a year.  So there is a target date, an objective date, 6th of April, that could assist the witness, and that's why I talked about after the death of the president.  That's why I said that important event.  Maybe it's because of the date that she is not able to grasp. 

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
So after the death of the president, did you see Hassan Ngeze?  Your microphone, witness's microphone. 

A.
Well, my mike is on. 

Q.
 (No translation)?

A.
After the president's death I didn't see him any more, but I heard some information regarding him because we couldn't get out of the house.  It was not customary -- we couldn't get out of the house because there was a state of insecurity.  But I heard that soldiers had attacked his house because it was alleged that he was hiding Tutsis, and this is what I learnt after the president's death.  And just after the death of the president, he was arrested and locked up because it was being said that he was somehow aware of the president's death because he had so written in his paper. 

Q.
As you say, he was accused of hiding Tutsis.  Was there any basis to that? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, if I may.

MR. MARTEL:
What, again?

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Mr. Martel now adds this thing about he was accused of hiding Tutsis and says that the witness already said that.  Mr. Martel is, throughout this testimony, giving testimony.  I don't know what I am to do other than to insist that he not give testimony.  The witness never said this. 

MR. MARTEL:
That was the --

MR. PRESIDENT:
There are two Judges hearing the witness talking about arrested because of hiding Tutsi. 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Arrested because of -- he was an accomplice or something like that, not because of hiding Tutsis. 

Well, my colleagues tell me otherwise, but let it be. 

MR. MARTEL:
Can I plead with you to penalise Madam Monasebian, because if she continues this kind of useless objections --

MR. PRESIDENT:
What is your next question, Mr. Martel, or maybe you should repeat the one you were in the process of asking.

THE WITNESS:

I am grateful, Your Honour.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
As you say, Witness, Hassan Ngeze's house was attacked because he was suspected of hiding Tutsis.  In your opinion and as far as you can remember, was there any basis to that accusation? 

A.
To say that he was hiding Tutsis, yes, that was true, because while away in Zaire we had a neighbour by the name Chacha and who was with us in Zaire, and he had young children.  I greeted him and I asked him, you came before us and you are already here.  How did you get here?  And he told me, "I came before you because Ngeze enabled me to escape, go across the border so as to save the children whom they wanted to kill, whom they wanted to kill." 

Q.
Do you personally know some of the people who were saved by Hassan Ngeze? 

A.
Yes.  There is another person, someone of my own family, and he left.  And when he left, we were told that that person had already been picked up to be killed, and the person was picked up in -- at the border in Zaire.  It's a long time back, but anyway, when we got to Zaire ourselves we met that person in Zaire, and he told us that it was thanks to Ngeze that he was in Zaire and that it was Ngeze who had enabled him to escape. 

Q.
You say someone of your own family? 

A.
Yes, yes.  That's the case, absolutely, was of my own family.

MR. MARTEL:
Could the witness be given a piece of paper and a pen.

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
And I'm going to ask you to write down the name of that person and maybe indicate the type of relationship, please.

MR. PRESIDENT:
This person, number two, Madam Witness, was he a Hutu or a Tutsi?  The last one, the person you just put on the paper.

THE WITNESS:
He was Hutu.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And Chacha, was he a Hutu or a Tutsi? 

THE WITNESS:
Chacha was Tutsi. 

MR. MARTEL:
3D170, under seal, please, 170.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Admitted.

(Exhibit No. 3D170 admitted)

BY MR. MARTEL:

Q.
The person whose name you've just written down, was that the person who told you that fact? 

A.
Yes.  He is the one who told me.  And when we escaped we found him in Goma, and that's the place where he told me, told me of that event. 

Q.
Why was he being hunted or sought, and by whom? 

A.
They were -- well, they were Tutsi friends, close friends, and when we noticed that they had started killing them we started saying, you know, you can't kill these people who are our friends.  So the mother, the two daughters, and the brother were then picked up and taken to Zaire.  And when he took the young man and the girl and when they got close to the border, he was arrested. 

Q.
How was Ngeze able to save those people?  What did you do? 

A.
I did not ask him the circumstances under which he was saved by Ngeze.  He just told us that at the time he was taking along those people and got to the border, and he said, "Well, I was arrested, and were it not for Ngeze, I was going to be killed."  That was the only explanation we were provided.  I did not seek further details on that event. 

MR. MARTEL:
I have no further questions.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Prosecution? 

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Your Honour, I have no questions of this witness.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Madam Witness, this was your testimony.  Thank you for coming forward and giving evidence before this Tribunal.  We wish you a pleasant journey home. 

THE WITNESS:
I also wish to thank you, Your Honour.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Please don't discuss your testimony with anyone. 

THE WITNESS:
I don't intend to talk to -- about it to anyone because we are all so bothered about our own security.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, this implies that we have heard eight witnesses this week, and I thank both parties for their efficiency and contribution. 

That was the last witness available for the Defence during this session; is that so, Mr. Martel? 

MR. MARTEL:
Unfortunately, it wasn't possible for us to bring more witnesses.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So in light of the experience gained during this session, I'm sure you will adjust the schedule.  Of course, all witnesses are different, but maybe the number of witnesses in the next session could be adjusted according to the experience we have achieved during this session, in other words, the progress. 

MR. MARTEL:
Of course, I agree.  Duly noted.  But let me point out that the witnesses are there, but we've done eight witnesses in less than three days.  Your Honour, I am going to try to maintain this pace.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, do any parties wish to raise anything, for instance, in the forum of a status conference, before we come to a halt this time?  Ms. Ellis? 

MS. ELLIS:
Your Honour, I had arisen because I would ask for a status conference.  If at all possible, I would ask that it be held at 9:00 tomorrow morning.  I say that simply because I've got some documents which I've left at my house because I understood we were dealing with the final witness tomorrow morning, so the speed of today's proceedings has taken us by surprise.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Would you be in a position to indicate some of the issues that you would like to raise so that we are not taken by surprise tomorrow?

MS. ELLIS:
Certainly.  Yes, yes.  I simply want to raise briefly the issue of our expert witnesses.  I don't know whether it's worth it, but I would certainly like to raise as well the future timetabling.  But that's all, thank you.

MR. PRESIDENT:
The timetable after March?

MS. ELLIS:
Yes, thank you.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  You can raise it, but we -- it will be difficult to clarify it.

Ms. Monasebian.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
We just have some questions about not the actual dates of scheduling, but what witnesses will be coming in the next session, and we're happy to deal with that now or tomorrow as Your Honour deems appropriate.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Then I think we'll take it together tomorrow.

MS. MONASEBIAN:
Very well.  Thank you, Your Honour.

MR. PRESIDENT:
All right.  9:30 tomorrow maybe we could meet, and if any counsel has other matters, please feel free to raise them tomorrow. 

That brings us to the end.  Court is adjourned until tomorrow morning, a closed status conference. 

(Court adjourned at 1450H)
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